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REDINGTON/FROGNAL
Conservation Area Statement

The aim of this Stalement i lo provide a ¢lear Indication of the Council's
approach 1o the preservation and enhancement of the Redington/Frognal
Conservation Area.

The Statement is for the use of local residents, community groups, businesses,
property owners, architecls and developers as an aid (o the formulation and design
of development proposals and change in this area, The Statement will be used by
the Council in the agzessment of all development proposals,

Camden has a duty under the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas)
Act 1999 to designate as conservation areas any “areas of special architectural or
historic interest, the character or hisloric interest of which it iz desirable Lo
preserve.” Designation provides the bagis for policies designed Lo preserve or
enhance the special interest of such an aren. Designatlon also introduces a general
control over the demolition of unlisted buildings. The Council’s policies and
guidance lor conservation areas are contained in the Unitary Development Plan
(UDP) and Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG). This stalement is parl of
SPG and gives additional detailed guidance In support of UDP policies.

The Stalement describes the character of the area, provides an outline of the key
issues and identifies development pressures thal are currently a cause of concern.
The Statement also sets oul the key policy framewaork Lo the Canservalion Area
and formulates specific guidance (or il

1L i3 not the intention of the Statement Lo contain proposals for the enhancement
of the public realm. The Council has produced a Streetscape Design manual for
Camden and all public realim enhancement work will he undertaken in accordance
wilh it, The manual identifies an overall image (or the Borough in terma of
appearance of the streetseape with respect to surfacing materials, furnishings and
lighting and, where appropriate, identification of the special characteristics of
smaller areas within it. There is a reference guide for the use of standard design
details, surfacing materials, street fmiture and street lighting (o be used in
engineering, Uatfic management and other environmenlal improvement sehemes,
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LOCATION

Situated on the slopes Lo the west of Hampstead as they fall towards Finchley Road the Conservation Arvea is defined
by the velationship of the strects and houses Lo the conlours of the hills These slopes contained o nuniber of
Wibutavies of the Westbourne River which rises al the lop of the Heath, When (he area was developed the sireams
were culverted and now flow underground. The Westbaurme isell dlso fows undergvound, emerging (o foym the
Serpentine i Hyde Park and then again underground before it joins the Thames,
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Designation dales

LIRSl

PLANNING HISTORY

The bulk of the Redington/Frognal Conservation
Area was originally designated in June 1985, It was
described in the report to the London Borough of
Camden, Planning and Communications
Committee as “an exceptional example of
consiastently distinguished Victorian and Edwardian
architecture”, The reporl noted that the area had
“already begun to lose some of ils inleresting
buildings” and was subject Lo increasing pressuie

for unsympathetic change.

EXTENSIONS
I February 1988 a small area adjacent (o Frognal
Lane and Langland Gardens, including Nos. 230-248

Finchley Road was added to the Conservalion Area.

In June 1992 an area on the north=-weslern
houndary of the Conservition Arvea was added, This
extension included part of Platt's Lane (Nos. 2-6
and 18-34 even and Nos. 3-67 odd), Briardale
Gardens (Nos, 1-35 odd and Nos. 2-14 even),
Clorane Gardens (all), a section of the eastern side
of Finchley Road including Nos. 300-338 and part
of Westfield College. With regard to the area to the
north of Platt’s Lane the committee report noted,
“Whilst the houses in Briardale and Clorane
Gardens and Platt's Lane are of a more modesl
scale and character than the later houses by
Quennell and Hart in the wider area, they
nevertheless form an important part in the history
and development of the area, The streels are a
good example of close collaboration belween a
builder-developer and his architect and maintain a
high degree of consistency in their character”.

The extension to include the Finehley Road

pmpuﬂ fes was mnde shortly after the Westfield
College site was put on the market. The
Committee veport atates, “it is considered
important L inelude the remainder of the open
space as well as the Finchley Road properties which
back onto it g0 as Lo safeguard its special character
and to ensure that fulure proposals preserve and
cnhanee the character of the Conservation Area,”

As avesull of a ve-asseasment of the boundary of
the Fitziohns/Netherhall Conseryalion Aveaa
section of the Redington/Frognal Conservation
Arvea avound Ellerdale Road was tansferred o
Fitziohna/Netherhall on 22.2.01.




As o resull of the analyzis undertaken for this
Slatement Nos.214-226 Finchley Road, Leinster
Mansions and Langland Mansions 228 Finchley
Road, St. Andrew’s United Reform Church Frognal
Lane, 38 Heath Drive and Nos,2-8 Langland
Gardens were added to the Conservation Area in
January 2003.

ARTICLE 4 DIRECTIONS

The analyaiz of the Conservation Aren undertaken
for this Statement led to an initial assessment of
the suitability of applying an Article 4 Direction in
the Conservation Area. It was recognised that in
some localions in the Conservation Area further
protection of certain features, in particular front
houndaries, forecourts and windows, will be
considered. Al the time of publication there are no
Article 4 Directions thal have heen applied to
properties within the Redington/Frognal
Conservalion Area. However vou should ¢heck
whether an Article 4 Direction has subsequently

heen designated.

Area of special character

AREA OF SPECIAL CHARACTER

The Unitary. Development Plan contains a section on Areas of Special Characler (Chapter 15). The Hampstead and
Highgate Ridge Is defined within that and part of the Conservation Area falls within it (see map). The policies are
listed at the end of this Statement.

CONSERVATION AREA PLAN

A Conservation Ares Plan for the Redington/Frognal area was adopted by the London Borough of Camden as
supplementary guidance in April 1992; The Plan sel out design advice on the alteration and extension of buildings, It
i superseded by {his statement,

CONSERVATION AREA STATEMENT
Ihis Statement was agreed by the Executive on 2101.08 following puhlie consultation,




History

The following paragraphs provide a brief overview of the historical development of the area
hased on the sources acknowledged in the bibliography.

Early Development Up until the 1870s the area now comprising the Redington/Frognal

Conservalion Aren was undeveloped fields separating Hampstead Village and Frognal Lane to

the east from Wesl End Lo the wesl, By the mid-18th century three of the roads within or

bounding the Conservation Area were established as country lanes and tracks. Frognal and

West End were linked by West End Lane - part of which was to become Frognal Lane in 1895,

Duval's Line, or Devil’s Lane a8 i was also known, became Platl's Lane in 1837, taking ils

name from the local landowner Thomas Platt. A route roughly following the boundary hetween

open heath land and enclosed fields, on the north

western edge of the Conservation Area, was also

established by the mid-18th century, This is now West : . .

Heath Road. To the north of West End Lane a footpath ) Yoy

is evident on the 1814 map linking Branch Hill to IWesl ;i'ﬂs:enﬂﬁz‘lum:uw
house enirance by

End. This today is the approximate route of Oakhill Thomas Quennell

Avenue, Towards the end of the 18th century a military felegraph station was

established on a high point towards the northen end of Duval's Lane.

'I‘eleﬁmph Hill, as it become kiiown, formed one of twelve signal posts s

designed to link the Duke of York's London headquarters with the east coast

on the threat of a French invasion. The south-wester boundary of the

Conservation Area was formed in the 18305 by the construction of the

Finchley Road,

Kidderpore Avenue :

Mid 19th century By the mid-19th century the majority of the area was in the ownership of the Maryon Wilson s
Ai'mnity. They farmed the area from the Manor Farm, Frognal, which was located to the north-west of the junction

between Frognal and Frognal Lane until about 1780 when the farm relocated to the south-west side. More modest

sections of the area were owned by Henry Weech Burgess (to the north of Platt's Lane) and Thomas Pell Platt and _b

John Teil (to the south of Platt’s Lane). John Teil, an East Indis merchant who van a flourishing leather business

with tanneries in Kidderpore near Caleutta, built Kidderpore Hall in 1843, Following his death in 1854 his estate was

hroken up and in 1889 the Hall and adjacent two acres of land were purchased by Westfield College. The College was

founded by the pioneer of women's universily education Miss Constance Gamell as a women's college in 1882 in

Maresfield Gardens, off the Finchley Road. A reservoir was formed on land to the north-east of the College in 1875 by

the Wesl Middlesex Walerworks, Thomas Pell Platt, an oviental seholar and Librarian of the British and Foreign Bible

Society oceupied Childs Hill House at the northern end of Platt’s Lane. This house was demolished in 1904, The site

of Child’s Hill House is now Telegraph Hill and part of Rosecroft Avenue. On the 1866 map both of these properties

are shown with extensive landscaped grounds, and in the case of Kidderpore Hall, with a long sweeping driveway

from Finchley Road. Apart from the above houses there were only two other buildings of note in the area by 1866,

Frognal Park - on land now oceupied by Greenaway Gardens and Chesterford Gardens - and Frognal Priory. The

latter building was an unusual mix of architectural styles built by a retired auctioneer who filled its interior with his

collections of furniture and curios. The Priory was demolished in 1880 and its grounds became Lindfield Gardens

and Frognal Close,

1
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legislatively ensnared the development of his more significant landholding, Had Marvon Wilson's applications to
Parliament been limited Lo his relatively uncontentious land, much of the Redinglon/Frognal area may have been
developed prior Lo, or In tandem with, the development of the lower Hampstead slopes at Belsize Park, Had this been
the case the style and form of development would have heen markedly different.

Upon the death of Sir Thomas Maryon Wilson in 1869 his brother, Sir John, gave up the long and acrimonious hattle
Lo develop on the Heath, and sold the land to the Metropolitan Board of Works in 1872, The development of the
flelds Lo the west of Hampstead Village could now begin (o take shape, By the 18705 there were very strong financiil
incentives for the landowners to sell or develop their landholdings. There was increasing demand from wealthy
Londoners seeking the greenery, clean air and quiet that Hampstead could offer. As the Belsize Park avea to the
south had by this stage been largely completed, the Heath was now protected from development and the owners of
substantial houses in Hampstead were selling off their grounds (or development, the a'gll-uuinin;.{ Hampstead slopes

698L

became the natural location for residential expansion.

It appears that the Maryon Wilson estate sold off fields or areas of
land large enough for half a dozen or s0 houses at a time, or gave
oplions for pieces of land Lo be developed over time, To keep the
standard of the area of a high quality and the architecture
harmonious, the Maryon Wilson family made covenants (still
existing today) to control the appearance, materials and size of
buildings and enhance the character of their surroundings, Al
Chesterford Gardens for inslance, covenanls were made requiring
buildings to be more than 20 feel from theiy front boundaries and
no slable or garage blocks were allowed within the frontage,

f\fffﬂ’t'fﬂmf -‘hf‘t e “M map Major Development 18705 onwards It is evident from the 1906
map that early development of the Conservation Avea was concentrated within the southern and north-western parts

of the area, Whilst many of the roads within the aren were laid out by the early vears of the 20Uh céntury,
development along them appears to have heen slow - al least by today’s stindards, Some of the earliest developmuent
of the estate was al the south-eastern end of Redington Road where five houses

were buill in the 18705, These included the semi-detached pair al Nos. 2 & 4

by Philip Webh (1876), which demonstrate the influence of William Maorris and

the rather Gothie styled house by Theodore K, Green (1875:6) al No, 6.

The roads that make up the southern part of the Conservation Area, namely

Lindfield Gardens, Arlwright Road, the southern stretch of Frognal were laid

oul and partly developed by the mid 18905, The work of the Scottish architect

Noviman Shaw 12 featured No. 39 Frognal, Other notable buildings on - mA

Avlowright Road include No, 28, a larde Queen Anne style house by RAL Brigds WA

of 1891, the former Hampstead Central Library, (now Camden Arts Centre by = BN e ¥ ¥

Arnold Taylor (1897) and on Frognal, University College Schiool by Arnold ﬂ

Mitchell (1906-7), Kedinglon Lodge
Charles Quennell ‘The architectural character of a large
amount of the Conservation Avea is the result of a highly
prolific partnership between two men; the architect Charles
FLB, Quennell and the Irish builder-developer George
\.\."ﬂﬂhhll{lml. Harl. Due Lo thetr dominance in the ]mn,lm;linn ol
houses in the northern parl of the Conservalion Area,
accounting for roughly one hundred houses over a period of
alxteen vears, I has been dubbed “Quennell-lind™ by Service
(1989) and Cherry and Pevaner (1998). [n 1896 Farl took up

- landion either side of Platt's land ineluding Briardale and
Clovane Gardens Lo the north and Rosecrolt, Hollyerofl and

900L-0/.81

Hampstead Central Library 1897




Ferncroft Avenues to the south. Whilsl not all of this area was developed by the Quennell/Hart parinership, thelr
houses make up a larde proportion of the dwellings on each road. Development began in the late 18905 at the
weslern énd of Platt’s Lane and al the ends of Briardale and Clovane Gardens nearest Lo it. This was followed by
the development of larger houses al the northern end of Ferneroft Road (Nos. 3-23; and Nos, 2<18). From 1904
Quennell and Hart buill stretehes of Redington Road and Heath Drive, then Oakhill Avénue and parts of Kidderpore
Avenue from 1906, Furlher stretches of Redington Road, Redington and Templewood Gardens and Templewood
Avenue formed the final stages of the parinership from 1910 to 18914, Quennell adopted a variety of styles for his
houses ringing {from restrained Arts and Crafls o more {formal Neo Georgian. He used rich ved and soft orange

brickwork, clay roof tiles, occasional areas of tile hanging and render, gables, and bay and dormer windows.

During the development of the Redington/Frognal area, Harl sel up an on-site sales office - fivst on the corner of
Ferncroft and Hollyeroft Avenues and later on the cormner of Redington Road and Templewood Avenue. At these
offices potential huyers would be shown plans of houses under construction and then taken on a tour of any sites
thal took their interest. According to Service (1989) there was a considerable turnover of owners of the new
properties in the early years, possibly due to property speculation, Harl had a house al No. 20 Redington Road
built for him, which was presumably designed by Quennell.

The influence of Quennell is less apparent in the central part of the Conservation Area, which includes Bracknell
Gardens, Oakhill Avenue and Greenaway Gardens. These roads feature a mix of Neo-Georgian and Arts and Crafts
Free Style houses buill either prior Lo, or shortly after, the 1914-18 war, The work of the architect C.H. Saunders
and the builder W, King are the dominani force here although Quennell and Hart and William A, Burr with
builder James Tomblin are also féatured.

The northern end of Kidderpore Avenue containg probahly the most impressive group of huildings in the
Conservation Arca. 8t Luke's Chureh and its adjoining Vicarage were designed in 1897 by Basil (‘hurnrlnuys ina
comparatively restrained style. At the junction with Platt's Lane there is Annesley Lodge (8 Platt's Lane) designed hy
the pioneer Arts and Crafts arehiteet Charles Franels Annesley Voysey for his father in 1895-6.

The guietand green environment and the atlvactive houses attracted, and still

atlract, fmous people to the aréa, The ehildveén's book illustrator Kile

Greenaway hid o house designed for her by R, Norman Shaw al No, 389

Frognal and lived there from 18895 1o 1901, The sculptor Sir Hamao

Thornyeroft RA lived at No, 16 Redinglon Road. The same house was also

awned by the eminent engineer Sir Owen Williams who was responsible for a

numbir of innovative velnforced concrete buldings in the 19208 and 19305,

The sound of the German operalic soprano Elisabeth Schwirzkopl wis often

heard on summer evening emanating from the house she shared with her A
hushand, the impresarvio Walter Legge, on Oukhill Aveniue, Platts Lang Voysoy House
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Character and appearance of the area

2 The Redington/Frognal Conservation Area occuples an avea of
sloping land to the west and south wesl of the historic centre
*of Hampatead Village, It forms a well-preserved example of
' prosperous late 19th century and Edwardian residential
suburb, The houses are predominantly large detached and
semi-detached and display a variety of formal and free

' architectural styles typical of the last years of the 19th and
early years of the 20th centurlaa On the whole these are built in red brick with clay tiled roofs, oecagional areas of tile
hanging and render and many of them have white painted small paned windows. Mature trees and dense vegetation
form the dominant features of the street scene in many of the "Avenues” and “Gardens” of the Conservation Area. In
addition the rear gardens, many of which are sizeable, make a contribution of their own to the area’s verdant quality.
The gardens also contribite to the ecological balance of the area.

Of great significance to the area’s character are its contours and slopes causing numerous views and vistas and
giving emphasis to many of the buildings.

Whilst the character and appearance of the Redington/Frognal Conservation Arvea is generally defined by the large red
brick houses and the mature vegelation, there are in fact distinel sub areas of discernible character and appearance
within the Conservation Area, These differences are largely a function of the densily, scale and sivle of buildings, the
period of their construction, topography and the density of vegetation. In order (o more clearly define the character
and appearance of the Redington/Frognal Conservation Area the Stalement divides the area up into eight sub areas.
I most cases these sub areas have a distinet independent character, Some sub areas are made up of more than one
character area. In addition to ldentifying the distinet qualities of each sub area the deseriptions below include;

Elements of streetscape that make a positive contribution to the Conservation Area

The character and the appearance of the Conservation Arvea are not solely funetions of its buildings, Elements within
Lthe public realm, such as original pavement materials, boundary walls and signage and particularly in the case of the
Redington/Frognal area, vegelation, contribule greatly to the area’s quality, character and appearance.

Buildings and leatures that detract from the chavacter of the area

Inevitably there are buildings that detvact from the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. This may be
due to a building's scale, materials and/or relationship to the street. These huildings may be considered for
redevelopment if the replacement would positively enhance the Conservation Area, Some buildings confribute to the
character of the arvea bul have Inappropriate alterations and extensions whose removal/replacement would enhance
the area. There are also structures and elements of streetscape that impinge on the character and quality of the
Conservalion Area,

Neutral buildings
There are a few bulldings that are fell to neither contribute nor be defrimental to the Conservalion Area and these
are identified as neutral. For listed buildings and buildings that make a positive contribution see the Audit Section,

The eight sub areas are;

1 Briardale and Clorane Gardens/Plalt’s Lane (southern part)

2 The “Crofts” - Ferneroft, Hollyeroft and Rosecroft (including the northern part of Platt’s Lane and Telegraph Hill)
3 King's College and environs (including Nos. 300-338 Finchley Road)

4 Redington Road & Templewood Avenue

5 Heath Drive and environs (including Oakhill Avenue, Kidderpore Gardens and lower part of Kidderpore Avenue)
6 Bracknell, Greenaway and Chesterford Gardens

7 The “Triangle”- Frognal Lane, Finchley Road and Langland Gardens

8 Arkwright Road, Frognal, Frognal Close and Lindfield Gardens

The Current Issuea section (see p.22) identifies the key pressures that alfect the Conservation Area and should be
read in conjunclion with the following deseriptions, Guidelines for the Conservation Area are on p. 24.

Redington/Fragnal
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SUB AREA ONE: BRIARDALE AND CLORANE GARDENS/PLATT'S LANE
By comparison with the majority of the Conservation Area, this sub area, which includes Briardale
and Clorane Gardens and the western part of Platt's Lane, is of a modest scale incorporating
predominately two and three storey semisdetached or terraced houses, It has early examples of the
partnership between the architect Chavles Quennell and the developer George Hart,
Briardale and Clorane Gardens were buill in the last years of the 1890z, They comprize modest
Arts and Crafts style semi-detached houses. Almost all of the turn-of-the-century houses on
Briardale Gardens appear to have been designed by Quennell using two designg armanged alternately
to give both a degree of uniformily and variation. Both designs incorporale bay windows al ground
| floor level, gables and sweeping clay tiled roofs that in some places drap to eaves at ground floor
level. Upper floors to these houses are
rendered whilst ground floors are generally
brick. The houses on Clovane, of which anly
Nog. 12-18 were designed by Ouennell, are of
a similar seale to those on Briardale bul are more mixed in
terms of style and detailing. Both voads feature a range of
species of street trees and fronl gardens are hounded by low
walls and hedges to give an informal domestic feel,

Platt’s Lane foring a relatively busy east-west roule through,

- and along, the north-western boundary of the Conservation
Area, Like Briavdale and Clorane (.ulrdms lhl.' adjacent stretch of Platt’s Lane is relatively modest in scale, Nos. 49-57
and 61-67 are typical lerraces of late Victorian two slorey houses, Nos, 29-39, 26.34 and 43-47 are further Quennel|
designed semi-detached houses, The former three pairs, belween Lhe enlrances to Clorane and Briardale Gardens
have somewhat lost thely group value due to unsympathetie alterations. The latter three houses ave very reminiscent
of Quennell’s houses on Briardale Gavdens, Nos. 13-27 form a fine terrace of three storvey, ved brick houses featuring
prominent gables to the road frontage, Nos, 14 & 16 are a semi-detached pair of collages evecled in 1875 in
conjunehion with the reservor - the former West Middlesex Walerworks, No, 8 Platl’s Lane, Annesley Lodge, is
posaibly the Conservation Arvea’s mosl avchitectuvally influenbial building, Designed by C F A Vovaey in 1895-6 for his
father Rev Charles Annesley Voysey this Grade 11" listed building was subsequently converted to flats in 1983, Cherry
and Pevsner describe this building as the best Voysey house in London, It is L-shaped in plan with a front door in the
inner angle and features typical Vovsey sloping bullresses and a white roughcast with stone dressings, (Nos,69-101
Platt’s Lane lies in the London Borough of Barnet) Some of the properties have lost their front boundaries and have
farecourl parking to the detriment of the streetscape.

Buildings and features that detract from the character of the area and would

henefit from enhancement

* The parking forecourt to the front of Windsor Court, Plall’s Lane interrupts
the streetscene

= White Court, Platt's Lane has been radically altered.

= No, 10 Platt's Lane has been radically altered.

= No, 2h Briardale Gardens and adjacent garages

Elements of atreetscape that make a positive contribution to the

Conservation Aren

= Streel trees and vegelation on all three roads - Briardale Gardens, Clorane
Gardens, Plait's Lane

Hodingtan/Frognal i
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SURB AREA TWO: THE “CROFTS"

. The “Crofts” - Ferncroft, Hollyeroft and Rosecroft Avenues - represent the second phase of development
~J of the northern part of the Conservation Area at the turn-of-the-19th-century. Largely complete by
1010 these avenues incorporate a vange of domestic styles with differing degrees of formality, The
adjacent part of Platt’s Lane and Telegraph Hill are contained within this sub avea, With a limited
number of exceplions, the area has a consistent quality and characler,
Ferneroft Avenue was almost entively designed and buill by the Quennell/Harl partnership.
Quennell mizes and matches a set of elements and malerals to give a slreel of predominantly
semi-detached houses of varied individual appearance but which resulls in an overall coherence
of character, Whilst most houses are built from red/orange brick, these are interspersed by houses
with rendered upper floors or lile hanging, Bay windows are square or rounded and gables are interspersed by
dormer windows. Pairs of semi-detached houses, that on first inspection appear to be identical, often prove o be
different on closer inspection. Nos. 40 & 42 (listed) are a good example of this. There are 10 listed Quennell houses
on Ferncroft Avenue. It appears that either Quennell was responding to the wishes of purchasers of these dwellings
or that he was wilfully experimenting, Whilst the houses play a significant role in the appearance of Ferncroft
Avenue, they are lierally overshadowed by regularly spaced roadside London Plane trees which dominate views
looking uphill along the Avenute from both ends,

Hollyeroft Avenue is move maodest in scale than Ferncrofl and has a more informal feel as a vesult plus the
fact that it curves along its length and has irvegularly spaced trees of varied type and age, It rises relatively
sharply from Ferneroft Avenue before falling slightly to Platt’s Lane in the north-west. The roofline is a
particularly important element of this Avenue. The gaps between the semi-detached pairs reinforces the rise
and fall of the slopes and is echoed by the tall chimneys and gable end walls, Again the houses arve
predominately red/orange and semi-detached incorporating arveas of white painted render, lile hanging and bay
and dormer windows, Uncharacteristically for this area, Nos, 28-34 feature Dutch style
pgables, Whilst Quennell designed nine houses al Nog, 33-49 (five are listed), a large parl of
this road was probably developed by WL King. Of particular note i3 No, 46, an allraclive
house set on a bank above the southern end of the Avenue designed by Sir Guy Dawber. The
frontage (o this red brick house has a prominent chimney stack to one side and gable (o the other.
A number of the properlies on Hollyeroft Avenue have sculpted brick reliels above, or to the sides,
of their entrances, These include house names such as Denewood and Heatherdene, There has
been some loss of low retaining walls to the detriment of the streetscape.

Rosecrofl Avenue provides a
| link between Hollycroft
Avenue and Platt’s Lane (o
the north, 1L is the shortest of
the three “Crofls” and
includes a mix of semi-
detached houses of similar
style, scale and origin (Nos,
6-16 and 3 & 5) and large
detached houses, Nos, 18
(listed), 20 (listed), 7 and 17
(listed). OF the latter, No. 17, with lis extravagantly moulded reliefs, and Nos. 18 & 20 were designed by Quennell,
No.22 is sel on backland at the erest of the hill with extensive gardens. It was the site of Childs Hill House. Whilst
Rosecrofl Avenue is a continualion of the character established by Ferneroft and Hollyeroft Avenues, by virtue of ils
street trees and building materials, the houses are more varied in scale and character and are interspersed by a
number of properties with unforlunate alterations and additions.

The houses at Nos, 44-56 Platt’s Lane and No. 28 Rosecroft Avenue, on the junction between the two roads,
form a coherent group of three storey, gable fronted properties which step back along the bend in this part of the
road. The [ive houses at Telegraph Hill are well set back above Platt's Lane and screened from view by large irees.

Srvation mras stEatorrisr



Buildings and features that detraet from the character of the area and would benefil from enhancement
* Roof extensions to Nos. 20-22 Hollyeroft Avenue

= Garages to the front of Nos, 44 Hollycroft Avenue

= Additions to No, 4 Rosecroft Avenue

* Nos. 9 &15 Rosecroft Avenue

= Garages to the front of No. 18 Rosecrofl Avenue

* Forecourt parking ares to the front of No. 20 Rosecroft Avenue

= No, 50 Platt's Lane incorporates a street level garage within its fronlage

Elements of streetseape that make a posilive contribulion to the Congervation Area
* Street trees (mainly London Planes) contribute greatly Lo all three of the “Crofts”

= Pavements have red brick paving to their outer edges

= Mature vegetation to the front of Telegraph Hill screens group of houses from the voad
= Low brick walls and hedges Lo most properties

Neutral buildings
= 19 & 21 Rosecroft Avenue

SUB AREA THREE: KING'S COLLEGE AND ENVIRONS

This part of the Conservation Area is in some ways unique: there are a limited number of houses, and
those that do remain are not all in vesidential use. This area has also experienced the most change in
the 20th century with the expansion of the Westfield College campus. For ease of deseription it is
appropriate to divide the area into three segments: that part to the north of Kidderpore Avenue
containing the original campus and 5t Luke's Church; the parl of the former campus Lo the south of
the Avenue, and the group of houses fronting onto Finchley Road,

St Luke's Church (listed grade 11*) and its adjoining vicarage al No. 12 Kidderpore Avenise (listed) are an
impressive pair of buildings designed by Basil Champneys built 1897 and 1902 respectively. Whilst of a
Gothic style these are relatively restrained for ecclesiastical buildings. The orange brickwork is set off by
carved stone ornamentation and erenellated parapets, The composition is dominated by a tall traceried window,
Between the Church and the Voysey house at the corner with Platt's Lane, there i4 No, 14 Kidderpore Avenue, o
tirn-of-the-century Arts and Crafts house featuring a turrel and stylised weather vane.

Kidderpore Avenue rises (rom its southern end to its highest point adjacent to the oldest building in the
Congervation Area, the former Kidderpore Hall (listed), which now forms the main focus of the King's College
campus. This building oviginates from ¢.1843 and was designed by T. Howard. 1t 15 a stuccoed, twa-storey, classical
building featuring a portico to its front elevation and projecting bracketed eaves. To its rear there is the remaining
section of John Teil's landscaped garden within which the original summerhouse remains. Also within this section of
garden there is a clagsical style chapel with a Doric portico, Both are listed but are in poor condition,

lrnllnwing thelr move Lo lhe I(iddwrr.uure Hall in IRR‘I Wuelﬂtld Cnll-.m. ael .tlmul u.xta.ndlhg Lhn, campiis (o

MacDonald (hnlh listed), and lhl: Dining Hall, Dudin Brown huildmg, Chapman Wing, Drchnrd Wing and
4™ the Laboratory enclosed a pleasant and well landscaped quadrangle, These buildings - all of which are of
pre-1940 origin - take their eue from the Maynard building and incorporate orange brickwork, clay tiled
roofs and dormer windows in a vestrained Queen Anne stvle. A fine modern addition on the northern side
is the Queen Mother's Hall in red brick echoing the proportions of the domestic architecture.

The campus is bounded to the north-east by the covered reservoir and tennis club and to the south by
Croftway. The rear gardens of the campus together with the tenmis club and covered reservoir form an
important green area of backland with many trees. The Tennis Club is identified in the UDP as a Private
Open Space situated either side of the covered reservoir

Together with the Church and vicarage, this part of Kidderpore Avenue is of an extremely high quality and makes a
significant contribution to the character of the Conservation Area, (Kidderpore Ave St Luke's Church and Vicarage)
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The southern side of this stretch of Kidderpore
Avenue has undergone significant change in the latter
years of the 20th century as the College campus first
expanded, then morve recently contracted, Nos, 19-25,
a gel of orange brick and tile hung, two-storey, Arls
and Crafts houses are the only remnants of a formey
group of Edwardian houses, They are bounded by
modern, four-storey halls of residence Lo the north
and a new housing development (“Westfield")
replacing the 19605 science building and refectory to
the south, New and original boundary planting helps to lessen the impact of these elements, but the bulk and
heaviness of these buildings does little Lo reflect the characler, qualily and appearance of the early elements of the
campus opposite. The communal gardens are identified in the UDP as Private Open Space, Between the properties
fronting onto Finchley Road and Kidderpore Avenue there is the new Skeel Library designed by Casson and Condor,
Despite the bulk of this large, red brick building, it is largely hidden from view from both roads.

Nos, 302 - 338 Finchley Road are in some respects disconnected from the rést of the Conservation Area, Whilst
many of these buildings are, or have been, part of the College campus, the character of this part of Finchley Road is
al odds with the quiet, green nature of Kidderpore Avenue bul there are, however, some notable buildings within i1,
Nos, 324 & 326 are a pair of Edwardian houses with tall mansard roofs and rounded corners to their street frontages.

Buildings and features thal detract from the character of the area and would benefit il
from enhancement i
* Halls of Residence at Plalt’s Lane/Kidderpore Avenue junction
= New flats, Kidderpore Avenue south-weslern side

= Landscaping to southern part of the King's College campus

= Finchley Road environmenl

Elements of streetscape that make a positive contribution to the Conservation Area
* The landseaping within the novthern part of the College campiis
= Red post box on Kidderpore Avenue

SUB AREA FOUR: REDINGTON ROAD & TEMPLEWOOD AVENUE
Redington Road, Templewood Avenue, Redingion Gardens, Templewood Gardens and Wesl Heath
Road form an area conitaining some of the larger and move generously spaced houses in the
Conservation Area set in a mature landscape. Whilst this gives the sub area a general theme, the
period over which the area was developed has resulled in a mix of architectural styles, Despite this,
parts of Redinglon Road and the majority of Templewood Avenue are of consistent charaeter and
appearance. Therve are a number of examples of mid and late-20th century houses and Maty
occupying parts of the former grounds of adjoining properties. These are, with a few notable
exceptions, of a more modest scale than their neighbours and generally do not overly detract from
the eharacter of the Conservation Area,

Redington Road was laid oul in 1875 and developed slowly starting from the Frognal (southern) end, It is the
longest road in the Conservation Area and features a wide range of primarily early 20th century domestic
architeeture along its length, Whilst there is no consistent architectural style, ved brickwork, clay tiles, dormer and
sash windows are common elements o Arts and Crafts, Queen Anne, Edwardian and neo-Georgian houses alike, Of
particular interest on Redington Road arve Nog. 2 & 4 designed by Philip Webb in 1876 in a rural Avts and Cralls siyle
(listed 11%); No, 16 One Oak, a fine example of the work of Arthur H, Mackmurdo (listed); Nos, 35-37 by Horace
Field; No. 39, a well embellished house designed by WW, Bull; No, 66, The Wabe, an eclectic mix of styles and
elernents designed by for himsell by the Educational Advisor Dr William Garnell and Nos, 54 &66 (listed) by
Quennell. The main strelches of Redington Road that are of consistent architectural style ave those sections designed
by Quennell al Nos, 41-49 and Nos. 71-77. The former are typical examples of the Quennell/Harl partnership



0 between 1898 and 1914 mixing orange and red brickwork with gables,

8 oriels and occasional classical features to create a relaxed style loosely
reminiscent of English architecture of the mid 17th and early 18th
centuries. The latter houses are in a formal neo-Georgdian style and
indicate that the northern part of the voad was the latest to be developed.

The relationship between buildings and the street varies along the length
of Redington Road. For example, Nos. 7-15 are within ten metres of the
back of the pavement, whilst Nos. 16-28 are set back behind dense

- vegetation. Redington Road rises and falls a number of times along its
length with its lowest point being al the junction with Heath Drive and highesi point close to its north-eastern end,
There arve limited views between houses on the lower part of the road towards west London and longer distance
views neross rool and treetops can be gained from its northern end.

Redington Gardens is a short road running north-east from the junction between Redington Road and Heath Drive.
A footpath at its north-eastern end provides a pedestrian link to Branch Hill and Whitestone Pond via the steeply
wooded glope known locally as “Branch Hill”, The road has a mix of large detached three/four-storey, red brick, neo-
Georgian style houses towards the north-eastern end (Nos. 1-4) and post-war houses and flats to the south-western
end. The former ereate a coherent group and are contemporary to and in harmony with the architecture of adjacent
streets, The latter are unspectacular and typical of the period of their construction. Of these Nos, 24, 25 & 26 are a
group of two-storey parlly rendered houses with conerete-tiled roofs; Conrad Court is a four-storey, flat roofed brick
and conerete structure and on the southern side of the road, Nos, 17 to 20 comprise a plain lerrace of two-slorey,
red brick properties.

Templewood Avenue runs parallel to the northern pavt of Redington Road. It was developed relatively late, first
appearing on maps in 1908, Templewood Gardens, which provides a link belween Templewood Avenue and
Redinglon Gardens, was buill in aboul 1912, These two roads are dominated by lavge detached, red brick, Quennell
designed neo-Georgian houses. For these houses Quennell las used a vaviety of details and architectural themes (o
produce a set of houses which are all different but make a cohesive whole. Tall and clearly defined chimneys are
evident, often to the street frontages, on these houses, In particular No. 15 Templewood Avenue (listed) - designed in
1905 - is a tall elegant house standing back from the street with its composition dominated by a tall complex
chimney atack, richly textured by projecting brickwork patlerns, No, 14 by Quennell is also listed, No, 17 is a recent
maodern addition to the Avenue. Parlly vendered and partly brick, this house designed by y
Richard MacCormac, is largely sereened from the road.

Templewood Avenue and Templewood Gardens are lined by a variety of species of streel trees
sel in red brick paving, The rich landscaping together with the width of the roads and tall
boundary hedges emphasizes the low densily and softens the gardens of these large houses,

The southern side of West Heath Road from Templewood Avenue to the eastern end of Platt's
Lane forms the northern-most boundary to the Conservation Area, It has large delached
houses overlooking the Heath, Each property within this stretch of West Heath Road is
unique. There are examples of styles from the 18903 (o the 19803 including neo-Georgian, neo-Tudor, Edwardian
and late-Victorian. The only common feature of these houses is their size. No. 9, the Schreiber House dales from
1962 and was degigned by James Gowan for Mr C 8 Schreiber (listed). It features piers of purple-grey brick rising
through three storeys and separated by continuous strips of glazing. A circular swimming pool is housed in a glazed
dome in its garden (on Buildings at Risk register). No. 13 18 an imposing late 19th century house at the junclion
with Redinglon Road (listed). The western-most house in this group Sarum Chase, occupied by St Vedast's School
for Boys, Built ¢1932 by Vyvyan Salishury for his uncle the painter and stained glass artist Frank Salisbury (listed),
Cherry and Pevaner describe it as “unashamed Hollywood Tudor®, This stretch of detached houses and flats partly
reflects the characler of the streets to its west and south, and partly forms an edge to the Heath,

Buildings and features that detract from the character of the area and would benefit from enhancement
= Roadside garages and parking forecourts al Nog, 15, 24, 26 and 30 Redington Road,
* Roadside garages at No. 97 Redington Road,
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* No, 99 Redington Road,

= No, 27 Redington Gardens (Conrad Court),
= No, 33 Templewood Aventie,

= Heath Park Gardens, West Healh Road

Elements of streetseape thal make s positive contribution to the Conservation Aren

* Posts and railways adjacent Lo the boundary of No, 22 Redinglon Road,

# Tile “REDINGTON ROADY HIHIH 1:.\*.|j}||.‘.|-.'h[ e the jnhcliun with Heath Deive and al the West Heath Road jimt.‘llun,

= Tile “TEMPLEWOOD AVENUE" signs at the entrance to the Avenue from West Heath Road.

= Much of the northern part of Redington Road and all of Templewood Avenue, Templewood Gardens and Redington
Gardens incorporale red brick paving,

# Slreet trees of o number of vavieties including Oak, Chestiul, Londaen Plane and Bireh,

= Much of the northern most parl of the Termplewood Avenue is bounded by dense vegetation,

= Low brick walls and hedges along Redington Gardens

SUB AREA FIVE: HEATH DRIVE AND ENVIRONS (INCLUDING OAKHILL
AVENUE, KIDDERPORE GARDENS AND THE LOWER PART OF
KIDDERPORE AVENUE)

Heath Drive runs ina shallow valley (o the south-west of Redington Road following closely one
of the streams, now underground and slightly to the north, It was developed from 1890
onwards with many of the plots being sold off individually orin pairs. This is particularly
noticeable on the north-western side of the road where house designs are varied in quality and
character. Despile this, the road has a reasonable degree of consislency derived from the group of
Quennell houses on the south-castern side of the road. They present gables and bay windows to their
shreel frontages and are set hehind a relatively consistent hedge ling, They are of two/three-storeys
and built from ved/orange brick with white painted window frames.

Whilst the north-western side of the road is more varied in scale and style, the use of similar elements and materials
results in buildings that contribute to the setting of the Quennell houses and the character of the road. Heath Drive
i dominated by large mature London Plane (rees, Combined with the low lying nature of the road, this gives Heath
Drive a particularly enclosed and dark feel. In summer the street 1s heavily shaded,

Kidderpore Avenue was formed relatively early in the 1870’s and 1880's; 1t takes its name from the former
Iﬁi:ldu:rpurc Hall (now King's College). The lower part of Kidderpore Avenue Lo the south of Croftway is solely
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residential containing predominantly detached houses,
Of these No. 3, The Studio, is a modesily sized former
outhuilding which features an fimpressive large hay
window to its streel frontage, No. 7, Oak House Avenue
has an L-shaped plan and features tile hanging to the
upper floor in a plain Arls and Crafts style whilst No, 9 is
a substantial, relatively plain, turn-of-the-century house,

Kidderpore Gardens runs between Kidderpore Avenue
and Ferncroft Road. It was initially called Cecilia Road
and features predominantly semi-detached turn-of-the-century houses: The northern side of the road comprises a
continuation of the architectural language used by Quennell for his houses on Heath Drive, In this road the bay
windows are the most prominent feature with only a minority of houses incorporating gables (o their fronlages,
These predominantly semi-detached, two-storey houses are in part rendered and in part orange brick, With the
exception of Old Hall Lodge and No. 2, the remainder of propertics on the south-eastern side of the road are three-
storey relatively plain orange brick, Queen Anne atyvle, semi-detached houses, These feature Dutch style gables, bay
windows at ground floor level and ornate entrance canopies, Nos.6-16 have particularly interesting doorways,
Kidderpore Gardens is lined by young trees and front boundaries to properties are a combination of low walls and
hedges. This gives the street a relatively open feel,

T

Oakhill Avenue follows approximately the line of a former foolpath between Oakhill House and West End. 1t was
initially ealled Barby Avenue when laid oul in 1907 before becoming Oakhill Avenue from 1912, 10 links Redington Road
to the north-east to Bracknell Gardens to the south-west. Many of the houses on Oakhill Avenue were designed by
Charles Quennell and built by Hart (four are listed), They are of two/three-storey, primarily in orange brick with areas of
tile hanging and white painted render, Rounded bay windows are a particularly characteristic feature of Oakhill Avenue,
The road was originally quite sparsely developed but smee then there have been a number of modern infills, most of
which fit into the streetacape veasonably well. The Avenue falls from east Lo west and was dominated until recently by
mature Oalk trees,

Buildings and features that detract from the character of the area and would benefit from enhancement
= No, 2 Heath Drive - loss of front boundary,

= Carport to Mo, Ta Heath Drive.

= 11a Heath Drive - side extension and roof altevation.
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Elements of streetscape thalt make a positive contribution to the Conservation Area

= Lamp posts on Croftway

= Roadside trees, low brick walls and boundary hedges on Kidderpore Gardens,

= Trees (predominantly London Planes) and hedges on Heath Drive,

= Tiled “HEATH DRIVE" signs at junctions with Kidderpore Avenue and Redinglon Road,

* Brick paving has been used between aveas of concrete paving and the kerb on Oakhill Avenue.

* There is a tile “OAKHILL AVENUE" sign and a red post box at the junction with Redington Road.
= Low brick walls on Kidderpore Avenue,

Neutral buildings
= 10a &10b Oakhill Avenue

SUB AREA SIX: BRACKNELL, GREENAWAY

AND CHESTERFORD GARDENS

Bracknell, Greenaway and Chesterford Gardens are three parallel roads that link Frognal
Lane in the south to Oakhill Avenue and Redington Road Lo the north, Each of these has
a distinct character determined by theiv style of architecture, density of development,
topography and sense of enclosure/openness,

Bracknell Gardens was laid oul and developed from 1905 onwards and took its name from a

Maryon Wilson eslate fn Berkshive, It features a mix of Free Style and Neo-Georgian houses of which Nos, 16-26
(1907-8) and 17-23 (1910-13) are semi-detached houses designed by C.H. Saunders and built by W.J. King and Nos.
614 (1907-8) and Nos. 9-15 (1907-8) designed by William A. Burr and built by James Tomblin, Bracknell Gardens
vises slightly from its northern and southern ends, at the junctions with Heath Drive and Frognal Lane respectively,

Bracknell Gardens features two archifectural themes. The lower, southern streteh of the road 15 characterised by
groups of semi-detached two and three storey Edwardian houses with prominent street facing gables, Whilst
different designers and builders have used a variety of materials, including tile hanging, render and yellow and
orange brickwork, there is a consistency of character. The upper, northern, section of Bracknell Gardens has larger
neo-Georgian houses of latey ongin. These give this section of the road a more open character which has more in
common with Greenaway Gardens than the southern part of the road. The low front garden walls contribute to the
open feeling, No. 32 is a brown brick 19808 block of flats with a double gable that attempts Lo use the architectural
details of the Edwardian houses, but its height and setting give it a heavy dominance.

Greenawnay Gardens was one of
the later roads to be laid out and
developed within the Conservation
Avea, Building started in 1914 and
continued after the First World
War into the 19205, 1ts name
honours the memaory of Kate
Greenaway the children’s book
iMustrator who lived al Frognal, Tt
- has a very distinct character with
large, detached, ved brick, two/three-storey neo-Georgian houses making up both sides of the streel, These feature
prominent chimneys, dormer windows, rounded bay windows and classically influenced detailing: the former two
elements being prominent features in the streetscene as the road rises noticeably from both of its ends. Although the
road has a comparatively open feel, views beyond nearby roofs and trees are not available from its highest point, The
houses that make up the street are generally good examples of their type. However, No, 3 is the only house in the road
that shows a degree of originality and variation from the standard designa of the majority. Greenaway Gardens
incorporates red brick paving, a feature common to the roads laid out towards the end of the development of the area.

Chesterford Gardens runs north to south linking Redington Road to Frognal Lane, It was named after a Maryon
Wilson family estate i Essex, The character of this road 15 defined by its compactness of developiment and the extent
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and density of roadside bees, It comprises comparatively tightly spaced detached and semi-detached thrée or four
storey, red brick houses. Bay windows and dormer windows are prominent features in the street scene and
decoration Is restratned, The streel rises from south to north and is bordered by mature trees, The combination of
the trees and the compactness of development give this road an enclosed feel which is only broken towards the
junction with Redington Road, The slope of the land from Easl to West is cleverly used, with stepped ground floors.
Many houses feature fine porches and doorways,

Buildings and fealures that detract from the character of the area and A

would henefit from enhancement ; .; y o ""II'I :

= No. 1 & 18 Greenaway Gardens, Y P J
= No. 27a Redington Road (fronts on to Chesterford Gardens), § 'dﬂﬂ;u'l*ERF‘ﬂR D g

= Garages Lo the front boundaries of Nos. 19 and 21 Chesterford Gardens,
= Garages Lo the fronl boundaries of Nos. 4 & 8 Bracknell Gardens.

= No. 4 Bracknell Gardens inappropriate front wall.

= Timber cladding to roof of No. 11 Chesterford Gardens.

= Fortacabin to front/side garden of No, 28 Bracknell Gardens,

Elements of streetacape that make a positive contribution to the Conservation Arvea

= Greenaway Gardens features areas of ved brick paving.

* The mature roadside London Plane trees in Chesterford Gardens contribute to its character.

= There is a tile “CHESTERFORD GARDENS" sign and red letterbox at the junclion with Frognal Lane (on
Conservallon Area houndary), '

* Low brick walls and hedges along Bracknell Gardens

* Trees along Bracknell Way footpath

SUB AREA SEVEN: THE “TRIANGLE"- FROGNAL LANE, 214

= 248 FINCHLEY ROAD AND LANGLAND GARDENS

The “triangle” formed by Frognal Lane, Finchley Road and Langland Gardens, which encloses an area of
privale open space, forms an area of relatively consistent architectural style and character. The
houses that back onto the open space, namely Nos, 230 to 248 Finchley Road, Nos. 3 to
31 Langland Gardens and Nos, 2 o 32 Fragnal Lane were buill in the 1890z, and
appear to have been built by the same, or a limited number of, developers, These
generally semi-detached houses are of three or four storeys with red brickwork and
prominent Dutch style gables, Whilst those on the Finehley Road are relatively plain
with restrained entrances and horizontal banding, those on Langland Gardens have prominent
entrance porches and decorative dressings to their gables, The enclosed open space known as
Frognal Lane Gardens is idenlified in the UDP as a
Private Open Space designated a local Site of Nature
Conservation Importance by the London Ecology Unit.

Langland Gardens also features similar Dutch gable style houses on
{ts eastern aidle and a lypical neo-Georgian house (Lindfield House)
and a typical late Viclorian house (No. 12) to its northern end, This
street is velatively quiel and slopes from north to south thus
allowing limited views to west London between the trees within the
front gardena to the properties,

AL the junction with Finchley Road and Langland Gardens are Leinster Mansions and Langland Manaions that form
an impressive gateway to the Conservation Area, Continuing on Finchley Road are Nos, 214-226 Finchley Road that
are similay in atyle and quality with Nos, 230-248,

Whilst Frognal Lane is of a generally uniform and consistent character on its southern side, to the northern side
there is a wide mix of quality and styles of architecture. The three storey late Victorian red brick houses towards the
eastern end of the road (Nos, 15-19), and the neo-Georgian houses at Nos, 9-13 Frognal Lane, contribute to the
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streel, Nos. 1 & 3 Frognal Lane and Bracknell Gate are well set back from the road and their main contribution to
the character and appearance of the street is the original boundary wall which is partly constructed from “lava”
bricks - misfived bricks from the local brickfields, Bracknell Lodge at the junction with Bracknell Gardens has been
radically altered over the vears and its comer entrance feature has been diminished as a result. Al the junction with
Finchley Road is the listed United Reform St Andrew's Church ¢1902-4, by Pite and Balfour. In coursed, snecked
rusticated rubble with Bath stone dressings and slated roofs it forms an entrance to the Conservalion Area, Roadside
trees on Frognal Lane help to maintain the residential feel of this well used east-west route, At its easlern end
Frognal Lane lies within Hampstead Conservation Arvea and is described in the Hampstead Conservation Area
Staterment.

The consistency of architectural style within this sub area is not matched by a consiztency in character of the three
constituent roads. The Finchley Road is a busy and noisy environment and it iz quite unlike the roads that lead off it,
The houses lining the eastern side of this road provide a fine backdrop to a comparatively poor environment,

Buildings and features that detract from the character of the area and would benefit from enhancement
= Roof additions to No. 10 Langland Gardens,

= Flue at front of 6 Frognal Lane

= Painted brickwork at 240 Finchley Road

Elements of sirectscape thal make a positive contribution to the Conservation Area

* Street Lrees are sporadic on Frognal Lane,

= Low walls on the south side of Frognal Lane

= Boundary walls Lo the fronlages of Nos.1 and 3, and Bracknell Gate, Frognal Lane are
original and incorporate ‘Lava’ bricks,

= Tile “FROGNAL LANE" sign opposite the Langland Gardens junction.

*= Trees and hedges within the front gardens to properties in Langland Gardens,

= Where boundary walls remain intact there 15 a consislency in character to the streel,

SUB AREA EIGHT: ARKWRIGHT ROAD, FROGNAL, FROGNAL CLOSE AND
LINDFIELD GARDENS

This sub area is probably the most varied in character in the Conservation Area, as development of its
four constituent roads appears to have been sporadic. In addition to University College School,

which occupies a large central site within the area, the area contains the Camden Arts Centre

and a number of houses that have been converted to hotels,

The section of Arkwright Road (rom its junction with Ellerdale Road (o Finchley Road i

varies in character along its length although it all forms parl of a busy east/west cross-route,

The consistency of the streetscene is interrupted by the openness of the adjacent University

College School site, Nos, 15-25 on the southern side form a consistent group of semi-detached two-

storey red brick lurn-of-the-century houses, No, 28 is a notable Queen Anne style house (listed) set '
behind its original boundary wall and matuvre trees. This s generally complemented by Nos, 30, 32 and 34 an \2,
the same side of the road and Nos. 27, 29, 31 and 33 on the southern side. Towards the south-weslern end of
Arkwright Road the streel is characterised by three/four storey part vellow brick, part red brick houses to the

northern side and smaller two/three storey red brick houses with Dutch style gables. The latter are similar to those
on Frognal and Langland Gardens, The Camden Arts Centre (designed as a library) al the junction with Finchley !
Road is a fine Arts and Crafts/Tudor style building designed by the architect Arnold Taylor in 1897 (listed), The
majority of front boundary walls on the road remain intact and there are oceasional trees within the front gardens Lo
properties. There are alzo long distance views down Arkwright Read 1o Finchley Road and beyond,

Finchley Road At the bottom of Arkwright Road the entrance to the Conservation Area on Finchley Road has the
Camden Arts Centre on the north junction and a fine mansion block that faces onto Finehley Road on the south
side, Arkwright Mansions is a four storey block with a fifth floor in the roof. In red brick with ironwork to the
baleonies and stone dressings Lo the windows and horizontal banding. There are distinet arched hooded porticoes,
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Frognal changes in character (rom its lower part to the south of Arkwright Road, where it 14 enclosed by three/four
storey buildings o a greater sense of openness to the north of Arkwright Road where buildings.are well set back
from the road. The southern part of Frognal is dominated by large red brick tum-of-the-century houses and
mansion hlocks. Nos. 8 & 11, at the point where Frognal bends sharply, are a particularly fine pair of orange brick
houses with stone dreﬁsings As Frognal approaches Arkwright Road it becomes more open due Lo the modest scale
of the mid-20th cuntury houses Lo lhu western side of the road.

The upper streteh of Frognal comprises Universily College School Lo its eastern side and a group of (wo/three stovey
detached Queen Anne and Arls and Crafts style house to the western side, University College School was founded in
1830 in Gower Street as parl of University College London. The school buildings on the current site were purpose
built for University College School in 1907 in an Edwardian Barogue style and although much of the centre building
waz destroved by fire in 1978 it was restored in virtual facsimile, In addition (o this fine building and its associated
porter's lodge, the railings and piers Lo the school's street boundary and the weeping willow lrees contribute greatly
Lo the character of this parl of Frognal, The school, lodge and boundary walls and railings are all listed. Of particular
note on the western side of Frognal are No.39, a house designed by R, Norman Shaw for the llustrator Kate
Greenaway in 1885 and No. 41, a low horizontal late 19605 house by Alexander Finder. Beyond the latter is Frognal
Close, This comprises a relatively tightly knit enclave of six semi-detached houses set around a small cul-de-sac.
These houses designed by Ernest L. Freud in 1937 are reminiscent of Erno Goldfinger’s work at Willow Road and
Mies van de Rohe's early brick houses at Frefeld. Four of the six houses thal make up the Close are listed.

Lindfield Gardens links Arlwright Road to
Langland Gardens to the north. It was named
after a village on the Marvon Wilson estate in
Sussex and much of its western side and part of
its enstern side were developed in the 18804,
Whilst the western side Is of consistenl characler
and quality, featuring two coherent groups of
two/three storey generally plain red brick late
Vietorian houses, the eastern side is more varied
- 1 and of inconsistent guality, (Lindfield Gardens
10: Lindiield Gardens 22; Lindfield G.J.rdc'ns 13) With thL exception of Nos. 8, 10 and 22 this streteh of road is
possibly one of the poorest in the Conservation Area due to unsympathetic alterations, dereliction, and unsightly
forecourt parking areas and to a lesser extent, recent new development, Lindfield Heights at the junction with
Arkwright Road is a development of eleven terraced brick and timber houses ¢,1969 set behind dense vegelation, The
landscaping, setting and scale contribule to the Conservation Area. To the north Nos,4&4a ¢, 1960 ave sel back with
less care Lo detail with garages that detract from the streetscape,

(See Hampstead Conservation Arvea Staternent for the vest of Frognal and Fitzjohns/Netherhall Conservation Area
Statermnent for the rest of Arkwright Road)

Buildings and features that detract from the character of the area and would benefit from enhancement
= The two-storey housing at Nos, 25a to 2093 Frognal,

* Temporary building within southern part of University College School campus,

= Nos. 4, 4a Lindfield Gardens present a poor frontage Lo the road.

* No. 6 Lindfield Gardens has a large forecourt parking area.
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= No. 12 Lindfield Gardens hag undergone unsympathetic alterations and features a large forecourt parking area, ;
# The frontage o No. 14 Lindfield Gardens 15 oul of ¢character,

Elements of streetscape thal make a positive contribulion to the Conservalion Area

* The hedges to the front boundaries of properties and trees within front gardens.

= Tile “FROGNAL' sign at the north-west corner of the junction with Frognal and the adjacent ved letlerbox,
* Tile “LINDFIELD GARDENS" sign at the northern end of the road,
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LISTED BUILDINGS

Within the Redinglon/Frognal Canservalion Area there are some 60 bulldings and structures on the statutory list of
buildings of Architectural or Historic Interest including three that are Grade 11*, Details and photographs of the listed
buildings are available on the Camden web-site: www.camden.gov.ul/planning/listed

(All buildings and structure listed below are Grade 1 unless it is staled otherwise)

Arkwright Road 28 and attached boundary walls and piers. 1891 by Robert A Briggs
Camden Arts Centre and attached piers and walls. By Arnold S Taylor

Ferncroft Avenue 6 & 8, 1901 by Quennell & Hart
12 & 14, 1901-2 by Quennell & Hart
26 & 26a, 1898 by Quennell & Hart
33 & 35, 1902 by Quennell & Harl
A0 & 42, 1904 by Quennell & Harl

Finchley Road Church of St Andrew c1902-4
Frognal 39 & 30a, 1885 by Norman Shaw

56 University College School Porters Lodge, 1906/7 by Arnold Mitchell
University College School and gates and railings, 1906/7 by Arnold Mitchell

Frognal Close 1 & 2, 1937/8 by Ernest L Freud
5 & 6, 1937/8 by Ernest L Freud
Heath Drive 24, 1907 by Quennell

25 & 26, 1907 by Quennell
31& 32, 1905 by Quenmnell
33, 1905 by Quennell & Mart

Hollycroft Avenue 43, 43a, 45, 1905 by Quennell & Hart
A7 & 49, 1905 by Quennell & Hart

Kidderpore Avenue 81 Luke's Chureh (11*%), 1897/99 hy Basil Champneys
No. 12 5t Luke's Vicarage, 190273 Basil Champneys
College Chapel King's College, 1928/9 Percy Morley
Kidderpore Hall King's College, ¢1843
Maynard Wing King's College, 1889 by Robert Falconer MacDonald
Skeel Library King's College, 1903/4 by Robert Falconer MacDonald
summerhouse King's College, mid 19th ¢

Oalkhill Avenue 21 & 23, 1909 by Quennell & King
25 & 27, 1909 by Quennell & King

Platt's Lane 8 Annesley Lodge (Grade 11%), 1895/6 by CFA Voysey

Redington Road 2 & 4 ("), 1876 by Philip Webh
16, 1889 by Arthur H Mackmurdo
54, 1908/9 by Quennell
56, 1908/9 by Quennell

Rosecroft Avenue 17, 1898/9 by Quennell
18, 1898/9 by Quennell
20, 1898/9 by Quennell
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Templewood Avenue 14, 1910/11 by Quennell
15, 1910/11 by Quennell

West Heath Road 9, 1962 by James Gowan
13, 13h, 13¢, and boundary walls and piers, 1894
23 (8t Vedast's School for boys, Sarum Chase) and gates railings and wall, 1932 by
Vyvyan Salisbury

BUILDINGS AND GROUPS OF BUILDINGS THAT MAKE A POSITIVE
CONTRIBUTION TO THE CONSERVATION AREA

The distinet quality of Redington/Frognal is that it largely retains its homogenous late 19th /early 20th century
archilectural character, For this reason, most of the buildings make a positive contribution Lo the character and
appearance of the Conservation Area and the general presumption should therefore be in favour of retaining such
buildings. Although not listed, the Governmenl requires that proposals to demolish these buildings should be
assessed against the same broad criteria as proposals to demaolish listed buildings (PPG 15, paragraphs 3.16 - 3.19).

Arkwright Road 13-25 (odd), 27-47 (odd), 12-14 (even), 18-20 (even), 30-34 (even), 38-48 (even)
Bracknell Gardens  5-31 (odd), 6-26 (even)

Briardale Gardens  1-35 (odd), 214 {even)

Chesterford Gardens 2-30 teven), 1-21 (odd)

Clorane Gardens 2-18 (even), 1-9 (odd)

Fermerofl Avenue 1-31 (odd), 37, 43, 2, 4, 10, 16-24 (even) 28, 32-38 (even) 44

Finchley Road 214226 (even), 230-248 (even), 302-334 (even), Arkwright Mansions, Leinster Mansions,
Langland Mansions

Frognal Heath Court, 2-8 (even), 923 (odd), 14-48 (even), 33-37 (odd), 41

Frognal Close &4

Frognal Lane 2.34, 38 (even, 1-3 (odd), 9-17 (odd)

Greenawny Gardens 217 (inclusive)

Heath Drive 1-10 {cons), 104,11, 11A, 12-14(cons), 16-20 (cons), 22,24, 27-30(cons), 35-38(cons)

Hollyeroft Avenue  1-23 (odd), 27-41 (odd), 51-53 (odd), 2-18 (even), 24-46 {even)

Kidderpore Avenue 1, 1a, 3-9(odd), 2-6 (even), 6a, 14, 19-25, King's College -Dining Hall, Dudin Brown building,
Chaprman Wing, Orchard Wing, Queen Mothers Hall

Kidderpore Gardens  1-21 {odd), 2-18 (even), Old Hall Lodge

Langland Gardens  3-31 {(odd), 2-8 (even), 12

Lindfield Gardens  1-27 (odd), 6-10 {even), 22

Oalhill Avenue 24, 4 - 14 (even) 3-11(odd), 15-190dd)

Platl's Lane 337 (odd), 43-67 (add), 14 -34 (even), 36-40, 44-56 (even)

Redington Gardens  1-3 (cons), 15

Redington Road 5-95 (odd), 6, 12, 18-28 (even), 42, 46-48 (even), 52, 58b,60-70 (even)

Rosecroft Avenue  3-7 (add), 23, 6- 16 (even), 22-28 (even)

Templewood Avenue 1, Ta, 3<5(odd), 7-11 (odd), 19, 2-12 (even), Templewood Gardens

1 Telegraph HIl 1.5

West Heath Road 11, 17-21 (odd)

Buildings al Risk

The English Heritage Buildings at Risk 2002 register contains the following enlries concerning buildings within the
Redington/Frognal Conservation Area;

9 West Heath Road, Schreiber House Swimming Pool (grade 11, poor condition)

Opportunily sites

No vacant sites remain in the area, neither are there any undeveloped sites in the Schedule of Land Use Proposals In
the UDF, Buildings which detract from the characler of the Conservation Area may be considered as opportunity
sites and therefore there may be scope for redevelopment, subject to an acceplable replacement. The following are
considered as possible opportunity sites:
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= University College School building adjacent to Arkwright Road

Current Issues

The Redington/Frognal Conservation Area retains much of its architectural and architectural integrity. Despite the
imposition of the moltor car into the public realm and the insertion of a scattering of buildings from the second half
of the 20th cenlury, the area retaina the essence of the character and appearance that would have prevailed in the
19205, The pressures exerted on the chavacter and appearance of the Conservation Arvea are threefold.

New development

New development in the Redinglon/Frognal Conservation Avea over recent decades has been within sections of
garien which have been sold off, or on areas that were not previously developed. In some instances - for instance on
Kidderpore Avenue and Lindfield Gardens - original houses have been demolished to make way for college buildings
and flats, Many of the relatively new delached houses are modest, feature mature planting within their front gardens
and therefore are relatively neutral elements in the streetscape. Where new development does not preserve or
enhance the character and appearance of the Conservation Arvea it is generally due Lo one of the following:

* Inappropriate materials

* Inappropriate scale/bull/height/massing

* Inappropriale relationship to street and neighbouring properties

= Inappropriate fronl boundaries

+ Tralfic generation and parking pressures

= Impact upon soll stability

= Impact on privacy of neighbouring properties

Alterations and extensions to exisling dwellings

The majority of applications for planning permission within the Redington/Frognal Conservation Area involve minor
alterations, extensions 1o existing buildings or new buildings within the curtilage of existing dwellings. This can have
a cumulative impact on elements that contribute to the character and appearance of buildings, streets and areas as a
whole, These cumulative changes often involve one or more of the following:

= Roofl extensions - addition of inappropriate dormers or alteration to roof pitches

* Alteration Lo, or replacement of windows, porches, doors, and other features

= Addition or alteration to basements

= Addition of roof terraces or balconies

= Addition of external services

= Inappropriate bull,, maszing, design and materials

= Inappropriate external painting

* Loss of original features

* Out buildings within the gardens

Works to frontages and within the publie realm

Building frontages, pavements and landscaping are important constituents to the character and appearance of the
Conservation Area, Allerations Lo the fronl boundaries between the pavement and properties can dramatically affect
and harm the character of the Conservation Area as brick walls and piers are enormously important to the
streetseape, The following often resull in a detrimental impact:

* Loss, alteration or replacement of houndary walls, gate posts, plers, vailings and balustrading

* The formation of new cross-overs

= The loss of trees and boundary planting

= Introduction of high railings 1o inappropriate front boundaries

A number of front gardens have been turned into parking aveas and what should be a soft landscape with a path,
possibly tiled, becomes a hard surface. The principle is not acceptable and further loss will be resisted.

Conservalion Arvea Boundary
A review of the boundary of the Conservalion Area was underlaken as part of the analysis for this Statement and
amendments made In January 2003, (see Planning History)
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Guidelines

Designation of a Conservation Ares gives the Council greater power to control and manage change, It is nol,
however, intended to prevent all new development, Some development to single family dwellings does nol require
permission from the Council under the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (as amended)
Order 1995 (GDPO) such as small extensions and changes to windows nol in the roof, This is known as permitted
development, The majority of works within the Conservation Area will vequire planning permission, and/or
conservalion are consent, and it is therefore advisable to check with the Planning Officer whether permission is
needed at an early stage of proposal.

The Barough's Principal Planning Policy document is the Unitary Development Plan (UDP) adopled in March 2000
and supporled by Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG). This Statement will form part of the SPG and should be
vead with the policies of the UDP and further guidance contained within the SPG.

Within conservation areas the Council has certain additional duties and powers in relation to the conservalion of the
built environment, and the UDP Environment Chapter sets oul the Couneil’s policies and general approach. In this
context UDP Policy EN31 states; “The Council will seek Lo ensurve that developmenl in conservation areas preserves
or enhances their apecial character or appearance, and is of high quality in term of design, materials and execution,
Applicants will be expected to provide sufficient information aboul the proposed development and its immediate
setting to enable the Council Lo assess the potential effect of the proposal on the character or appearance of the
gonservation area.”

A further guidance leaflet giving general advice on works and applications in conservalion areas is available from this
office, and additional guidance relaling 1o specific problems within the Conservation Area may be produced from
time-lo-time for inclision within this Statement,

Backland/Rear Gardens

T Rear gardens contribute Lo the townseape of the Conservalion Area and provide a significant
amenity o residents and a habitat for wildlife, Development within gardens is likely to be
unacceptable,

Basements

RF2 Extending into basement areas will only be aceeptable where it would not involve harm to the
character of the building oy ils selting.

Demolilion

RF3 Within the Conservation Area total or substantial demaolition of a building (whether listed or
otherwise} will require Conservation Arvea consent.

RI4 The Council will seek the retention of those buildings which are considered to make a positive
contribution fo the character or appearance of the Conservation Area, and will only grant
consent for demolition where it can shown that the building detracts from the character of the
area. Consenl will not be granted for demolition unless a redevelopment scheme has been
approved which will preserve or enhance the Conservation Area (see UDP Policy EN32 and
SPG Demolition Guidelines),

RF5 All applications should show ¢lemly the extent of demolition works proposed.

RF6 The demolition of listed buildings will be resisted and the Council will seek to ensure that they

are adequately maintained and in beneficial use. The demolition of bulldings or removal of
streetscape features which made a positive contribution to the character and appearance of the
Conservation Arvea will be resiated,

Estate agent boovds

RF7 Legislation concerning the display of advertisements s contained principally in the Town &
County Planning (Control of Advertisements) regulations 1992 (as amended). The Regulations
also identify fourteen classes of advertisement that have "deemed consent”, A profusion of



boards can have a detrimental impact upon the Conservalion Arvea in terms of visual cluller,
Only one advertisement, of specified dimensions and hetght, per properly Lo be gold or lel has
deemed consent under the Regulations. Applications for consent to exceed the deemed
consent level will usually be refused in Camden, The Council will, where appropriate, use its
powers Lo prosecule agents who display boards illegally,

Front gardens and boundaries

RFB

RF9

Listed Buildings
RF10

RF11

RF12

Alterations to the front boundaries between the pavemient and houses can dramatically affect
and harm the character of the Conservation Area, Boundaries in the Conservation Area are
predominantly formed by walls, either with railing or hedges, The original features of the
boundaries may vary. Where there are low walls alongside the voad and within properties they
add to the attractive appearance of the front gardens and architectural setting of buildings,
Praposals should respect the original style of houndary and these should generally be refained
and reinstated where they have heen lost, Particular care should be taken to preserve the green
character of the Conservation Area by keeping hedges, The loss of front boundary walls where
it has occurred detracts from Lhe appearance of the front garden by reducing the aren for sofl
landscaping in this urban residential avea. Furthermore, the loss of front boundary walls
facilitates the parking of vehicles in parl of the property, which would adversely affect the
setting of the building and the general street scene,

The Couneil will resist any further loss of ront houndary walls and conversion of fronl gardens
into hardstanding parking area,

Under section 7 of the Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Listed 1A
Building Consent is required for demolition of a listed building, and for any works of alteation 4 :
or extension which would affect its character as a building of special architectural or historic ! e

interest, Even cleaning or vepainting a facade may require listed building consent. The
requirement for listed building consent is distinet from the need for planning permission and
"permitted development’ rights to not apply to listed building consent.

Listed building consent is nol noymally requived for maintenance and like for like repairs but if
repairs result in a significant loss of historle fabric or change (o the appearance of the building,
consent would be required. It is an offence to carry out or ask for unauthorised works to be
carried oul to a listed building and the penalty can be severe - an unlimited fine or up to 12
months imprisonment, or both.

Advice on whether listed building consent i needed for works Lo listed buildings is available
from the Conservation and Urban Design Team. You are advised to oblain wrilten confirmation
that repair work proposed does not require listed building consent. The Council's development
policies relating to listed buildings are contained in the UDP Policies EN38 to ENAD, Additional
guldance is ineluded in Supplementary Planning Guidance and in the Government's Planning
Policy Guidance Note 15 - Planning and the Historic Environment. A separate Council leaflet is
available on listed buildings.

Materialg and mainlenance

RF13

In all cases, existing/original architectural features and detailing characteristic of the
Conservation Area should be retained and kept in good repair, and only be réplaced when there
is no alternative, or to enhance the appearance of the building through the restoration of
missing features, Original detailing such as dooy/ window pediments and finials, iron
balustrades, fimber framed sash windows, doors, ool tiles, decorative brickwork, boundary
walls and piers, where retained add fo the visual interest of properties, and where removed in
the past replacemnent with suitable copies will be encouraged. Original, traditional materials
should be retained wherever possible and repaired if necessary.
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RI‘14 The choice of materials in new work will be most important and will be the subject of control
by the Council.

RF15 Generally routine in regular maintenance such as unblocking of gutters and rainwater pipes,
the repair of damaged pointing and stucco, and the painting and repair of wood and metal
work will prolong the life of a building and prevent unnecessary decay and damage, Where
replacement {5 the only possible option, materials should be chosen to closely match the
original. Generally the use of the original (or as similar as possible) natural materials will be
required, and the use of materials such as concrete roof tiles, artificial slate and PVCu windows
would not be acceptable.

RIF1G Original brickwork should not be painted, rendered or clad unless this was the original
treatment. Such new work, whilst seldom necessary, can have an unfortunate and undesirable
effect on the appearance of the building and Conservation Area and may lead to long term
structural and decorative damage, and may be extremely difficult (if not impossible) to reverse
once completed. Re-pointing if done badly ean also drastically alter the appearance of a
building (especially when “fine gauge” brickwork is present), and may be difficult to reverse,

RF17 Where replacement materials are lo be used it is advisable to consult with the Couneil's
Conservation & Urban Design Team, o ensure appropriate choice and use,

New Development

RF18 The Unitary Development Plan (UDP) provides the conlext and guidance for proposals for new
development in terms of the appropriate land uses and other matters such as density and
parking standards. New development should be seen as an opportunity to enhance the
Conservation Area. It should vespect the existing buill form and historic context of the area,
local views, building lines, roof lines, elevational design, and where appropriate, architectural
characteristics, detailing, profile, and materials of adjoining buildings.

RF19 The Redington/Frognal Conservalion Area has a varlety of building types, ages and styles. In
the past new development has not always been respectful of that context. There are, however,
striking examples of modemn architecture and design present in the Conservation Area. Modern
architectural design should not be resisted per se, but it should respect and reflect its contexl,
Applicants will be required to demonstrate that their proposal respects and reflects the conlexl
in Lerms of scale, height, massing and relationship to the streel,

RF20 No vacanl sites remain in the area, neither are there any undeveloped sites in the Schedule of
Land Use Proposals in the UDE Buildings which detract from the character of the
Conservation Area may be considered as opportunity sites and therefore there may be scope
for redevelopment, subject to an acceptable replacement. The following are considered as
pussible opportunity sites;
* University College School building adjacent to Arkwright Road

RF21 Many properties In the Conservation Area are built on an incline and as a result new
development may involve excavation. Where relevant applications should include details of all
excavation proposed and details of the proposed levels in the context of adjoining properties.
(see RF34-37 For [ree guidelines)

Rear extensions/conservatories

RF22 Planning permission Is usually required for the erection of a rear extension or conservatory.
However modest single storey extensions to a single family dwelling may be exempt from
permission under the General Permitted Development Order 1995 depending on the proposed
volume and height. It is advisable to consult the Planning Service to confirm if this Is the case,

RF23 Extensions and canservatories can alter the balance and harmony of a property or of a group
of properties by insensitive scale, design or inappropriate materlals. Some rear extensions,
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RF24

RF25

RF26

Roof extensions
RF27

RIF28

RF29

Roof gardens
RF30

Satellite dishes
RF31

Side extensions
RE32

RIF33

although not widely visible, so adversely affect the architectural integrity of the building to
which they are attached that the character of the Conservalion Arved is prejudiced, Rear
extensions should be as unoblrusive as possible and should not adversely affect the character
of the building or the Conservation Area, In most cases such extensions should be no more
than one slorey in height, bul its general effect on neighbouring properties and Conservation
Area will be the basia of its suitnbility,

Extensions should be in harmony with the original form and characler of the house and the
historic pattern of extensions within the terrace or group of buildings. The acceptability of
lirger extensions depends on the particular site and circumstances.

Rear extensions will not be aceeptable where they would spoil a uniform vear elevation of an
unspoilt terrace of group of buildings.

Conservatories, as with extensions, should be small in seale and subordinate to the original
building and at ground floor level only, The design, scale and materials should be sensitive to
the special qualities of the property and not undermine the features of original building.

Planning permission is requived for alterations to the voof, al the front, rear and side, within
the Conservation Area. The variety of roof forms used in the Conservation Area means that
proposals for roof extensions will have to be assessed on an individual basis with regard to the
design of the building. Because alterations to the roofscape can adversely affect the character
of the Conservation Area proposals roof extensions are unlikely to be acceptable where;

= [t would be detvimental Lo the form and eharacter of the exiating building

= The property forms part of a group or terrace which remains largely, but not necessarily
completely, unimpaired

= The property forms parl of a symmeltrical composition, the balance of which would be upset
= The roof i prominent, particularly in long views

= The building is higher than many of its surrounding neighbours, Any further roof extensions
are therefore likely to be unacceptably prominent.

The retention or reinstalement of any architecturally interesting featuves and characleristic
decorative elements such as parapels, comices and chimney stacks and posts will be encouraged.

Roof extensions should be drained to the rear of the building: no rainwaler pipes will normally
be allowed on the street elevation.

Roof gardens are nol a chavacteristic feature of the Conservation Arca. The provision of
autdoor space al roof level will be resisted,

Dishes are nol normally acceptable where they are positioned on the main facade of a building
or in a prominent position visible from the streel. The smallest practical size should be chosen
with the dish kept to the rear of the property, below the ridge line and oul of sight i al roof
level, Planning permission may be required. Advice from the Conservation and Urban Design
Team should be sought before undertaking such works.

Planning permission may be required for the erection of side extensions, Modest single slorey
side extensions to single family dwellings may be exempt from permission under the General
Permitted Development Order 1995 depending on the proposed volume and height and
location, It is advisable to consult the Planning Service to confirm if this is the case.

The Conservation Area is characterised by significant and well-preserved gaps between buildings
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providing views through Lo rear mature gardens. Normally the infilling of gaps between
buildings will be resisted where an important gap is compromised 1o the symmetry of the
composition of a building would be impaired. Where side extensions would not vesull in the
loss of an important gap they should be single storey and set back from the front building line,

Trees and landseape design

RF34

RIF35

RF36

RF37

Any persan wishing to do works Lo a tree, such as pruning or felling, must given the Council
six weeks notice of the works before it is carried oul. If a tree is subject to a Tree Preservation
Order the Council has eight weeks to process the application. Further advice is available from
the Tree Office on 020 7974 5616, The Council will consider the removal or existing trees anly
where necessary for safely or mainlenance purposes or as parl of a replanting/nature
conservation programme,

All trees which contribute to the chavacter or appearance of the Conservalion Area should he
retained and protected, Developers will be expected to incorporate any new trees sensitively
into the design of any development and demonstrate thal no trees will be lost or damaged
before, during or after developmenl, B8 5837; 1991 shall be taken as the minimum required
standard for protection of Lrees,

All new development should have a high standard of external space (landscape) design, which
should respect the character and appearance of the Conservation Area,

Applications for development should take into account the possible impact on trees and other
vegetation, and state clearly whether any damage/ removal is likely and what protective
measures are lo be taken to ensure agalnst damage during and after work, BS 5837: 1991 shall
be taken as the minimum required standard for protection of trees, All lrees within 10 metres
of a development proposal should be clearly identified. This also applies o underground
development. A separate Council leaflet is available on Trees.
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APPENDIX 1 AREA OF SPECIAL CHARACTER -
THE HAMPSTEAD AND HIGHGATE RIDGE

HR2

HR3

HR4

HR5

HRE

HRT7

HRE

The Council will seek to preserve and/or enhance the characler of the Heath and its setting
and will seek to ensure that any proposals for the management by the City Corporation and
inglish Heritage of the Heath and Kenwood respectively are compatible with this objective and
other policies in this Plan,

The Council will seek Lo protect and reinforee the existing scale and the vaned charcter of the
streets and townscapes within the Arvea of Special Character.,

The Council will seck Lo control development along roads leading to the Heath so as to
saleguard their present contribution to the setling of the Heath,

The Council will seck to preserve or enhance views of the Heath and views to the Heath and to
the wooded and open areas adjacent Lo (L,

The Council will seek to protect the existing skyline and viewpoints, particularly views to
notable landmarks including the historic views of Saint Paul's Cathedral and the Palace of
Westminster, Where high or bulky buildings in the foreground intrude into those views,
the Counell will, on redevelopment, wish to see their véplacement with lower and Jess
bulky buildings.

In order to preserve the general character of the area, the Council will protect residential use
throughout the area, In the core areas of Hampstead and Highgate villages, the Council will
encourage the retention of a mix of uses,

Where the existing development has a significant proportion of large gardens and unbuill land,
the Council will not normally permit new development at densities incompatible with those in
the surrounding area and will seek to ensure that a substantial amount of each site remaing
unbuilt and is used for landscaping and tree planting,

In locations thal are visible from the Heath and other open spaces, any proposals for
development including alterations or extensions to the roofs of existing buildings will he
expected to safeguard the established and traditional rooflines and roofscapes in the area,
Within these locations, the Council will also give special consideration to the design of rear
elevations and alterations to the rear of existing buildings,
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Fory further information contacl ;

Conservation and Urban Design Team

London Borough of Camden

Environment Department

Town Hall Extension

Argyle Street

London WC1H 8ND

Telephone : 020 7974 1944

E-mail: conservationt camden.gov.uk

Camden's Planning Service is on line. You can visit the website at www,.camden,gov.ul/planning

Useful contacts

English Heritage

23 Saville Row

London W18 2ET
www.english-heritage, org.uk

Office of the Deputy Prime Minster (responsible for regional and local government) www.odpm.gov.uk

Hampstead Conservation Area Advisory Commitlee and other local groups and organisations can be contacted via
CINDEX which is available through Camden Libraries, Camden Information Point and by direct internet access at
httpy//eindex.camden.gov,ulk
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Kidderpore Avenue
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